### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

ROBERT PATRICK CRAIG,

Appellant,

vs.

V

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 82,642



CLERK, SUPREME COURT Ву \_\_ Chief Doputy Clerk

## APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY FLORIDA

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JAMES R. WULCHAK CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar No. 249238 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114

(904)252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

###

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the following symbols will be used to designate the record on appeal:

- R = The instant record on appeal
- T = Transcripts from the instant record on appeal
- SR = The supplemental record on appeal

PR = Transcripts from the record on appeal in the defendant's initial appeal, Case No. 62,184 [for previous re-cord].

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant was charged with and convicted of the July 1981, first degree murders of John Eubanks and Walton Robert Farmer. <u>Craig v. State</u>, 510 So.2d 857 (Fla. 1987). (SR 6-8) The original jury recommended that the defendant receive a sentence of life imprisonment for the killing of John Eubanks (which was perpetrated by the co-defendant, Robert Schmidt) and a sentence of death for the killing of Farmer. <u>Id</u>. (SR 9-10)

The original trial judge, the Honorable C. Welborn Daniel, Jr., Judge of the Circuit Court of the Fifth Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Lake County, overruled the jury recommendation of life imprisonment on the Eubanks murder and followed the recommendation of death for the Farmer murder in sentencing the defendant to two death sentences. <u>Id</u>. Regarding the murder of John Eubanks, the original judge found the aggravating circumstances of (1) the murder was committed for financial gain; (2) the murder was especially wicked, atrocious, or cruel; and (3) the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. <u>Id</u>. (SR 11-33) In mitigation, the original judge found that the defendant had no significant history of prior criminal activity. <u>Id</u>. (SR 11-33)

With regard to the Farmer killing, the trial court originally found in aggravation that (1) at the time of the conviction of the murder, the defendant had previously been convicted of another capital offense, to-wit, the contemporaneous

murder of John Eubanks; (2) the murder was committed for financial gain; (3) the murder was especially wicked, atrocious, or cruel; and (4) the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. (SR 11-33) The trial court rejected all mitigating circumstances. <u>Id</u>. (SR 11-33)

On the initial direct appeal, this Court affirmed the convictions, but remanded the case for resentencing before the judge. Id. In so doing, the Court struck the aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious, or cruel, and ruled that the trial court had erred in excluding evidence which the defense had sought to present to the judge at the sentencing hearing regarding the defendant's good conduct in jail from the time of his arrest until his sentencing date. Id.

On remand, the case was reassigned to the Honorable Don F. Briggs, Judge of the Circuit Court of the Fifth Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Lake County, since Judge Daniel had retired from the bench and was engaged in the private practice of law. Judge Briggs denied the defendant's motion to empanel a new jury and ordered that the resentencing would be held before the judge only, without a new jury. <u>Craig v. State</u>, 620 So.2d 174, 175 (Fla. 1993) (hereinafter <u>Craig II</u>). Following a limited sentencing hearing in which the new trial judge heard only evidence of the defendant's good conduct in jail and prison and relied on the original trial and penalty phase transcripts, the trial court again imposed two death sentences. <u>Id</u>. The new

sentencing judge found the existence of four aggravating circumstances for each count: (1) the defendant was previously convicted of a capital felony, to-wit: the other contemporaneous murder; (2) the murders were committed to avoid a lawful arrest; (3) the murders were committed for pecuniary gain; and (4) the murders were committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. (SR 44-46, 48-50) These findings included aggravating factors not found (and not even argued by the state) in the first sentencing, towit: that the murders were committed to avoid a lawful arrest and, as to the murder of John Eubanks (Count I), that the defendant had previously been convicted of the murder of Walton Robert Farmer. (SR 45, 48-49)

Regarding the mitigating circumstances, the replacement judge found a lack of significant history of prior criminal activity, which he gave only little weight, and that the defendant exhibited good behavior during his incarceration from the time of his arrest through the trial and resentencing, which he assigned very little weight. (R 46, 50, 53) In imposing the death sentence on Count I (Eubanks), the court rejected the jury's life recommendation, simply evoking the language of <u>Tedder</u> <u>v. State</u>, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975), that "the circumstances of the murder dictate that the sentence of death is the only appropriate sentence, that being 'so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person could defer.'" (sic) (SR 53-54)

On appeal from the first remand, the appellant raised

various errors including the propriety of the death sentences, the finding of additional aggravating factors not previously found in the first proceeding, and the court's limitation on evidence which could be presented to the court. <u>Craiq II</u>, <u>supra</u> at 175-176. This Court did not rule on these issues, instead vacating both death sentences on the authority of <u>Corbett v.</u> <u>State</u>, 602 So.2d 1241, 1244 (Fla. 1992), since the new judge did not hear the same evidence as did the advisory jury. The Court remanded for an entirely new penalty phase hearing before a new jury which would recommend a sentence for Count II (since the original life recommendation as to Count I would continue in effect), and for resentencing by the judge as to both counts. <u>Craiq II</u>, <u>supra</u> at 176.

On this second remand (from which the instant appeal follows), a new jury was empaneled to hear the evidence and recommend a sentence for only the first-degree murder of Robert Farmer. The defense filed motions to exclude evidence concerning the defendant's theft of cattle from John Eubanks, arguing that such thefts were irrelevant to any aggravating circumstances pertaining to the Farmer murder, and to preclude consideration of pecuniary gain and cold, calculated, and premeditated as aggravating circumstances. (R 149-151, 154-155, 587-590) The trial court initially deferred ruling on these motions, but later denied the defense requests to exclude this evidence. (T 320, 322-323, 372, 727, 785-786) The trial court allowed, over defense hearsay objection, evidence that John Eubanks had told a

business associate, William Nelson, that he was going to replace Robert Craig as the foreman of the ranch with Robert Farmer, where there was no evidence that Craig knew of such conversation. (T 391-392) The court ruled that the hearsay was admissible under the state of mind of the declarant exception to the hearsay rule. (T 391-392) The defense sought jury instructions which listed the specific non-statutory mitigating circumstances on which the defendant was relying; however, the court denied such requests. (R 687-690; T 730-731, 740-741, 787)

During the penalty phase testimony, a co-perpetrator of the crimes, Robert Schmidt, (whom the defendant claims was the leading force in the crimes and whose shots killed both men), testified as to his and the defendant's involvement in the crimes. During his testimony he explained that he had been given a deal to second degree murder convictions in exchange for his testimony. (T 471) The prosecutor went to great lengths examining Schmidt regarding his current life sentences, where, despite a presumptive parole release date of March 1995, it did not appear that he would be released at that time since the prosecutor had personally successfully blocked earlier parole three times. (T 471-472) Therefore, the jury was given the impression that Schmidt would most likely remain incarcerated for a long period of time. (T 471-472) The prosecutor also argued this "fact" to the jury, telling them that Schmidt knew the prosecutor had blocked his release three times and knows that he is "not going to be getting out of this." (T 795) After the hearing,

however, the defense discovered that Schmidt was already on work release, which the Department of Corrections had described as the "road to release." (R 737-742; T 897-900, 904-906) The defendant thus sought a new penalty phase hearing before a new jury since the jury had been misled as to this crucial fact which was directly related to mitigating factors the defense had argued; and sought a continuance of the sentencing for an evidentiary hearing on the matter. (R 737-742; T 892, 897-900, 904-906) During argument on the motion, the prosecutor admitted that he knew that Schmidt was already on work release prior to the penalty phase testimony, but merely argued that the defense could have discovered this fact for themselves as well. (T 902) The court, ruling that there was no discovery or Brady violation since the defense could have discovered the information itself, denied the defendant's motions. (T 892, 906)

The jury, after hearing the evidence and argument of counsel, recommended by a vote of seven-to-five that the defendant be sentenced to death for the murder of Robert Farmer (Count II). (R 696) The trial court followed that recommendation and overrode the original jury's life recommendation on Count I, and sentenced Robert Craig to two consecutive death sentences. (R 772-781) In his findings of fact, the trial court found four aggravating circumstances as to each count: (1) the defendant was previously convicted of a capital felony, to-wit: the other contemporaneous murder for which he was also being sentenced to death; (2) both murders were committed to avoid a lawful arrest;

(3) both murders were committed for pecuniary gain; and (4) the murders were committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. (R 747-749, 758-760)

As to the mitigating circumstances, the trial court found: (1) the defendant's lack of significant prior criminal activity, but the court found this to be of "slight weight;" (2) the defendant's age of 23 and a mental age of 16-18, which the court found to be of "very, very slight weight;" (3) the defendant's good attitude and good conduct while awaiting trial in jail, to which the court assigned "very slight weight;" (4) the plea bargain and disparate sentence of the co-defendant Schmidt, which the court found to be of "very, very, slight weight;" (5) the defendant's remorse, which the court accorded "very slight weight;" (6) the defendant's low intelligence level, which the court gave "very, very slight weight;" (7) the defendant's hard work habits and skill development while in prison, to which the court assigned "very slight weight;" (8) the defendant's childhood background which included Craig being forced by his father to quit school in the 11th grade to work on the family farm and that his father was a strict disciplinarian, but the court gave this factor "very very slight weight;" (9) the good relationship Craig has with his family and in-laws, including counseling of his younger relatives, which the court gave "very, very slight weight;" (10) the defendant's status as a good prisoner who has developed additional skills in prison and thus

has shown a good possibility of rehabilitation, which the court accorded "slight weight;" (11) the defendant's religious nature since the time of his arrest, which the court assigned "very, very slight weight;" (12) the defendant's "unimpeachable" good character, which the court accorded "very, very, slight weight;" (13) the undisputed lack of prior violence of the defendant, which the court found to be of "very, very slight weight;" and (14) the defendant's positive personality traits, which the court found to be cumulative of other mitigating factors and accorded "in a cumulative manner, very, very slight weight." (R 749-757, 761-769) Regarding other mitigation argued by the defense, the court rejected: (1) the defendant was an accomplice in the murders committed by another and his participation was relatively minor; (2) the defendant acted under extreme duress or under the substantial domination of another; (3) the offer of a plea bargain to Craig and his rejection of it; (4) Robert Craig's full cooperation with the police; (5) the defendant's use of cocaine; (6) Craig's minor participation in the killings; (7) the defendant's confused mental state at the time of the killings; (8) the use of evidence which was obtained in violation of the defendant's fifth and sixth amendments rights; and (9) the domination of the defendant by Robert Schmidt. (R 749-757, 761-769)

In rejecting the original jury's life recommendation on Count I, the trial court again simply evoked the language of <u>Tedder v. State</u>, that "the circumstances of the murder dictate that the sentence of death is the only appropriate sentence, that

being so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person could differ." (R 769-770)

A notice of appeal was timely filed. (R 793) This appeal follows.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On July 21, 1981, John Eubanks went to a ranch that he owned which was run by the defendant, Robert Craig. (T 371-372, 386-387, 674-675; PR 682-683, 685, 693) Robert Schmidt was also employed at the ranch as a laborer. (T 372-373, 441-442, 676; PR 691-692) Eubanks had told his wife and his secretary about some problems that he was having at the ranch with the defendant. (T 375-378; PR 683, 693) Eubanks planned to conduct a cattle count at the ranch since he believed that the defendant and Schmidt had stolen some of his cattle. (T 375, 389, 450-452; PR 778, 922, 1484)

During the cattle count that day, Craig and Schmidt were alone with Eubanks several times with no mention of killing him and with nothing happening to him on those occasions. (T 478-482, 683-686) While Eubanks was engaged in the cattle count along with Schmidt and Craig, Walton Farmer arrived at the ranch to talk to Eubanks. (T 350, 450-453, 686-690; PR 933, 1484) Unbeknownst to Craig and Schmidt, Eubanks had offered Farmer a job. (T 392-393, 478-479, 680-681; PR 715) While Eubanks and Farmer were in a remote area of the ranch with Schmidt and the defendant, they were shot and killed. (PR 945-953, 1409-1418) Two versions of the crime subsequently came to light.

In his statement to police two days after the incident<sup>1</sup> and again at the original trial and the instant resentencing,

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$  This statement was suppressed by the trial court on the day of the trial. (PR 2005 a)

Robert Craig told what happened in the remote area of the ranch. Eubanks was engaged in the cattle count when he was joined by Farmer. (T 686-690; PR 1404-1406, 1409-1410, 2709-2710) Schmidt told the defendant that since Eubanks knew about the missing cattle, they were in big trouble and would have to kill both Eubanks and Farmer. (T 694-695; PR 1396-1397, 1410, 2710-2711) Craig did not believe that Schmidt was serious and told Schmidt that he would not be able to do that. (T 694-695, 723-724; PR 1410, 2710)

The defendant was with Farmer and, some distance away and out of sight of the defendant, Schmidt was with Eubanks. (T 691-692; PR 1413, 2711) Craig heard Schmidt shoot twice. (T 692-693; PR 1413) Farmer and the defendant started running and Schmidt came into view, firing a couple of shots and yelling, "Shoot! Shoot!" (T 693-694; PR 1414-1416, 1488) The defendant, out of fear, fell to the ground and, with his eyes closed, fired in Farmer's direction three times. (T 694-696, 723-725; PR 1414, 1486-1489, 2713) Everything happened so fast that the defendant just automatically shot without really thinking about it. (T 696, 723-725; PR 1414, 2713, 2973-2974)

When Craig opened his eyes, he saw Farmer on the ground. (T 695; PR 1417) Schmidt walked past Craig and, standing over Farmer, shot the victim in the head. (T 695-696; PR 1416-1417) Craig asked Schmidt about Eubanks, and Schmidt replied that Eubanks was dead. (PR 1418)

Schmidt threatened to kill the defendant if he told

anyone and indicated that they would have to dispose of the victims' vehicles. (T 695-697; PR 1418, 2714) With the defendant following in the ranch truck, Schmidt first drove Farmer's jeep to Clermont and then drove Eubanks' automobile to Belleview. (T 697; PR 1419-1420, 2714-2715) Schmidt told the defendant that they would that night take the bodies to Wall Sink, a large, deep sinkhole in neighboring Sumter County. (PR 1420, 2716)

At Schmidt's directions, the two men loaded cement blocks, plywood, bales of straw, a rope and an old blanket onto the ranch pick-up truck. (PR 1423-1426, 2716) Schmidt took Eubanks' and Farmer's hats and wallets and put them into a paper bag. (PR 1426-1427, 1494) The two men loaded the bodies onto the truck, covered them with the plywood and straw, and drove to Wall Sink. (PR 1428-1432) There, after cutting the lock on the fence and riving near the sinkhole, Schmidt directed the unloading of the bodies. (PR 1437-1440, 2716-2717)

At trial and at the second resentencing, Robert Schmidt testified for the state, as a part of a deal allowing him to plead guilty to two counts of second degree murder and dropping charges against his wife who had hidden the murder weapon. (T 471-478; PR 999-1001, 1018-1024,1048-1051) Schmidt's version of the incident was that the defendant had been the instigator. (T 453-456; PR 935-937) Schmidt testified that the defendant told him that they would have to kill Eubanks and Farmer since Eubanks knew of the cattle theft. (T 453-456; PR 935) At the original trial, Schmidt testified that there was no discussion as

to any details regarding killing the men. (PR 941) However at the resentencing, Schmidt testified that Craig told him that they would kill the two men after luring them into a back hammock and further that Craig ordered Schmidt to fully load his gun. (T 454-456)

It was Schmidt's version that while at the remote area of the ranch with Eubanks, Schmidt heard the defendant (who was out of sight with Farmer) yell to him, "Hey, Bob!," and then heard the defendant shoot first. (T 457-458; PR 945) Schmidt shot Eubanks twice in the back of the head. (T 458, 484-485; PR 946-948) Schmidt then claimed that the defendant ordered Schmidt to shoot Farmer in the head since Farmer was still alive, which he did. (T 459-461; PR 950-952) Robert Schmidt then said that the defendant took a few bills from Eubanks' wallet. (T 461; PR 954, 959) Later that night, the two men disposed of the bodies at the sinkhole, Schmidt claiming that the defendant directed the actions. (T 461-468; PR 961-962, 967-974)

Robert Schmidt admitted that he considered himself to be a leader, rather than a follower. (T 490-491) Following Schmidt's original trial testimony, as he was leaving the stand, he was observed to give the defendant a look and a gesture, mouthing the words, "Got you." (T 607-609)

On July 22, 1981, Schmidt and Craig washed the bed of the pick-up truck and changed the tires on the truck. (T 469, 700; PR 982-986, 1474, 1477, 1479) The police and several acquaintances of Farmer gathered at the ranch that morning to

search for the missing Farmer. (PR 1470-1472) Craig, "running from a nightmare," afraid of crossing Schmidt, and not knowing what to do, told a deputy that Farmer had left about 5:00 p.m. the previous day and that Eubanks had left a short time later. (T 699-700; PR 1471-1472)

Police investigation into the victims' disappearance led to the arrest of Schmidt and the defendant for cattle theft. (T 471; PR 2157-2159, 2185, 2368, 2375-2377, 2414-2415) After the police took five psychological stress evaluations of the defendant, Craig admitted to selling some of the Eubanks' cattle. (PR 2161, 2183, 2191, 2378-2379) Several hours later, after repeated questioning, after hiding the defendant from a bondsman and an attorney who were on their way to bail the defendant out of jail on the theft charge, after appealing to the defendant's conscience by telling him the victims deserved a "Christian burial," after slamming a chair in front of the defendant and confronting the defendant, and without re-advising the defendant of his Miranda rights, the sheriff obtained a statement from the defendant admitting his involvement in the deaths of Eubanks and Farmer. (PR 2166-2167, 2212-2218, 2247, 2249, 2305-2306, 2311-2313, 2329, 2419-2420, 2428, 2438, 2498, 2504-2506, 2534-2540, 2548) This statement, the trial court eventually ruled, was not freely and voluntarily given after a knowing and intelligent waiver of his rights. (PR 595, 2005 a)

During this involuntary statement, the defendant agreed to lead the police to the sight where the bodies had been dis-

posed. (PR 2173, 2286-2289, 2389, 2393-2394) It was while en route to the scene, that the sheriff secreted the defendant from an attorney who had been retained his family as his counsel and who had informed the sheriff's department that he demanded all questioning to cease and for the defendant to be returned to the jail. (PR 2173, 2242-2243, 2286-2292, 2323, 2326, 2393-2394, 2555-2571, 2722-2730)

The defendant led the police to Wall Sink, where the bodies were eventually recovered with the help of expert divers (police divers being unable to find the bodies.) (PR 851-854, 869-783, 884, 1052-1061, 2171-2175) Also discovered due to the defendant's help, were items of physical evidence recovered from the Wall Sink area. (PR 853-854, 872-873, 1221-1240) Sheriff Griffin and Captain Brown admitted that, without the defendant's help the bodies and evidence would never have been discovered nor would the crimes have been solved. (PR 884, 2220-2221, 2323, 2441)

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