### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE NOV 30 1994

FILED

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By \_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_ Chiof Deputy Clerk

ROBERT PATRICK CRAIG,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 82,642

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARGENE A. ROPER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #302015 444 Seabreeze Boulevard Fifth Floor Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Craig from the prosecutor. She did not re-depose any witnesses because they both decided there wasn't any real change (T 900). The court properly determined that there was no discovery violation as the information was available to both sides. Schmidt was available on the stand for cross-examination and the question simply wasn't asked. The court further and appropriately found that the issue of Schmidt's sentence, presumptive release date and all other factors regarding his sentence were argued vigorously both to the jury and in the sentencing memorandum. The court concluded that there was no violation and no grounds for a new trial (T 901).

The prosecutor in the present case did not fail to correct material false statements of a witness and he did not use such evidence to obtain a conviction or enhance Craig's sentence in violation of the appellant's due process and fair trial rights. Giglio v. United States, 404 U.S. 150 (1972), and United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667 (1985), are inapposite. Witness Schmidt made no material false statements concerning his sentence. He indicated that he was eligible for parole in March 1995, which is still the case, whether or not he is on a work release program. Schmidt has not yet been released. Schmidt has not concealed his status and is still serving sentences for second degree murder. The fact of work release hardly evidences a bias on the part of Schmidt against Craig. United States v. Meros, 866 F.2d 1304, 1309 (11th Cir. 1989), is a intermediate federal court decision which is not only not binding upon this court, but is also inapposite, as well, under the present facts.

The penalty phase jury in the present case was simply not misled to the degree of favorableness of the co-perpetrator's plea. Work release is an incidence of the authority of the Department of Corrections and of the sentence imposed. It was hardly contemplated in the plea agreement. The jury was quite able to adequately assess the credibility of this parole-eligible convicted felon.

The death sentences in the present case are hardly cruel and unusual. Contrary to the appellant's assertion, the prosecutor did not argue that Schmidt would not be getting out of prison any time soon. The prosecutor pointed out that when Schmidt was facing a first degree murder conviction he had a powerful motive to lie but that motive was not still present, his parole date could be affected for a perjury conviction, and that he was not going to get any further benefit from the state, who had blocked his parole three times (T 794-95).

The jury's determination concerning any possible disparity in sentence was not skewed by the fact that the jury did not know that Schmidt was on work release. There was no disparity in sentence in the first place. While the co-defendant Robert Schmidt was given life sentences, as the trial court noted, there are legitimate, objective differences for not automatically according Craig the same sentence. <u>See</u>, <u>Diaz v. State</u>, 513 So. 2d 1045 (Fla. 1987). The evidence reflects that it was Craig, not Schmidt, who began stealing Eubanks' cattle. In light of the physical evidence the sentencing court properly found that the testimony of Craig was incredible. Craig was older than Schmidt, both attended approximately the same number of years in school, but Craig was the manager of the ranch and was the planner in the scheme to take over the ranch and to cover up the cattle theft (R 752). Given Craig's primary role in the murders, the mere fact that after years in prison, the co-defendant was on work release would hardly have resulted in the jury finding a disparity in sentence, when Schmidt is still in prison and the jury was aware that he was parole eligible as early as March 1995, and was likely to make parole at some time in the future, since he had come up for it before and been turned down on several occasions. Moreover, Schmidt received the actual sentence that he had A jury does not have to be informed of every bargained for. collateral consequence or incidence of such sentence. Craig's original jury recommended life imprisonment for Eubanks' murder which stood. The trial judge was aware of the work release prior to sentencing Craig. It was argued in the defense sentencing memorandum (R 735).

Appellant has failed to demonstrate under <u>Giglio</u> that the testimony and/or argument was false and misleading, that such information was material, or that the result of the proceeding would have been different.

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING INTO EVIDENCE THE FACT OF CRAIG'S CATTLE-THEFT SCHEME AS SUCH TESTIMONY WAS RELEVANT TO THE JURY'S CONSIDERATION OF THE AGGRAVATING FACTORS OF PECUNIARY GAIN AND COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED IN THEIR CONSIDERATION OF AN ADVISORY SENTENCING VERDICT FOR THE MURDER OF WALTON FARMER.

The sentencing court permitted the state to present to the jury evidence of Craig's cattle theft from John Eubanks. The

- 28 -

appellant contends that this evidence was irrelevant to the sentencing verdict for the murder of Walton Farmer. Appellant also contends that it was error to permit the state to argue these matters to the jury as evidence of the aggravating factors of pecuniary gain and cold, calculated, and premediated, when such matters pertain solely to the killing of Eubanks, not Farmer, from whom nothing was taken.

Appellant's first premise that such evidence did not relate to the aggravating factors of pecuniary gain and cold, calculated and premeditated is erroneous. The aggravating circumstance that the murders were committed for pecuniary gain was established by testimony concerning the cattle-theft scheme and testimony to the effect that Craiq believed that with Eubanks out of the way, the unsupervised control of the ranch would be entrusted to Craig, enabling him to convert all its assets to his own use and benefit. As this court previously noted, when Farmer appeared as candidate to replace Craig, this scheme required his a elimination also. Craig v. State, 510 So. 2d 857, 868 (Fla. 1987). Also, the continuation of Craig's cattle theft scheme would have been jeopardized by allowing a witness to Eubank's murder to live or by allowing Farmer to leave the ranch so he could point out to authorities where Eubanks had last been seen and implicate Craig in his disappearance or murder. The evidence fully supports the fact that Craig planned the murders in advance based on a coldly rational, calculated scheme arrived at for reasons of his interest in maintaining and expanding his position of control over the cattle ranch. See, Craig v. State, 510 So.

2d 857, 868 (Fla. 1987). The appearance of Eubanks and Farmer on the ranch the day of the murder may have caused Craig to act sooner, but the fact remains that all along Craig wanted to gain control over the cattle ranch through the murder of Eubanks and had prepared for the same by buying guns and ammunition, which he distributed to Schmidt, so that the two men could also handle, as well, any unlucky person who have may accompanied Eubanks to the ranch. The murder of Farmer would not have taken place at all but for Craig's cattle theft scheme.

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING INTO EVIDENCE OVER DEFENSE OBJECTIONS HEARSAY TESTIMONY OF THE DECLARANT'S EXISTING STATE OF MIND EMOTION, INTENT OR PLAN, WHICH EVIDENCE IS AN EXCEPTION TO THE HEARSAY RULE.

The appellant complains that the sentencing court permitted the state to introduce into evidence hearsay testimony that the victim, John Eubanks, had told a business associate that he intended to replace Craig as the foreman of the ranch (T 391-392).

It is not true, as the appellant contends, that Eubanks' state of mind was irrelevant to any issues in the penalty phase trial. Eubanks indicated that he intended to hire Robert Farmer to replace Robert Craig and such evidence was offered and properly admitted to explain Robert Farmer's actual presence at the ranch on the day of the murders. Such evidence is admissible pursuant to section 90.803(3)(a)1 and 2, Florida Statutes (1993), as it demonstrates that it was Eubanks' actual intent to replace Craig and that such intent was acted upon in securing the presence of Robert Farmer at the ranch on the day of the murders, which under subsection 2 not only explains Farmer's presence, but indicates that Eubanks acted upon his previous intent. The presence of Eubanks and Farmer at the ranch on the day of the murder is part and parcel of the circumstances of the crime. The counting of the cattle and the presence of Farmer are part of the res gestae of the murder of Farmer. Contrary to the appellant's assertion, Eubanks' statements were not used to prove Craig's state of mind. It is well settled that prior and contemporaneous statements of intent are admissible to prove the person did the act which they said they were going to do. Mutual Life Insurance Co. v. Hillmon, 145 U.S. 285 (1982). Since the evidence admitted would fall under a hearsay exception under §90.803(3), Florida Statutes (1993), appellant's argument that he was denied the right to confront witnesses in the penalty phase is not well taken. Since it was established that Eubanks was aware of the fact that Craig was stealing cattle and that Craig was cognizant of Eubanks' knowledge of such stealing and that Farmer was on the ranch the day of the murders assisting Eubanks, any error in the introduction of this evidence was harmless under State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

# IV. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON NONSTATUTORY MITIGATION.

Prior to the penalty phase defense counsel sought to amend the standard jury instructions in regard to mitigation.<sup>1</sup> The

<sup>1</sup> Defendant's special requested penalty instruction no. 5 recites as follows:

#### DEFENDANT'S SPECIAL REQUESTED PENALTY INSTRUCTION NO. 5

Mitigating circumstances are not intended as a justification or excuse for a killing or to reduce it to a lesser degree of crime than first degree murder. Instead, a mitigating

trial court denied the request and instructed the jury in accordance with the standard jury instructions that they could consider "any other aspect of the defendant's character, record, or background and any other circumstances of the offense," as far as nonstatutory mitigation is concerned. (R 688; T 740-741, 745, 835). The position of the trial court was that the standard instruction covered the nonstatutory mitigating circumstances and that the particulars of such were proper topics for closing argument (T 741).

No objection was interposed after the instruction was given (T 843). Appellee would submit that the issue is thereby waived. <u>Wyatt v. State</u>, 641 So. 2d 355, 360 (Fla. 1994). In any event, this court has previously indicated that there is no obligation

Our law requires consideration of more than just the bare facts of the crime. A mitigating circumstance may stem from any of the diverse frailties of humankind.

In considering Issue Two it would be your duty to consider as a mitigating circumstance any aspect of the defendant's background, character, age, education, environment, behavior and habits which make him less deserving of the extreme punishment of death. Among the mitigating circumstances which you may consider as established by the evidence are:

- The Defendant has no significant history of prior criminal activity;
- 2. The Defendant acted under extreme duress or under the substantial domination of another person;
- 3. The age of the Defendant at the time of the crime;
- 4. Any other aspect of the Defendant's character or record and any other circumstances of the offense;
- 5. Good attitude and good conduct while awaiting trial;
- 6. Plea bargain and sentence of co-defendant;
- 7. Defendant was a good family man;
- 8. Specific good deeds or characteristics;
- Defendant was not the one who actually killed the victim.

You may consider as a mitigating circumstance any circumstance which tends to justify the penalty of life imprisonment or that the defendant contends as a basis for a sentence less than death. (T 687-688).

circumstance is a fact or group of facts which has one or two purposes: (1) a mitigating circumstance may extenuate or reduce the moral culpability of this defendant for this crime; or (2) a mitigating circumstance may make the defendant less deserving of the extreme punishment of death.

for a judge to give jury instructions going beyond the approved standard instructions. Wuornos v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S455, 459 (Fla. Sept. 22, 1994). It is clear that Defense Proposed Instruction No. 5 is rife with extraneous verbiage not contemplated by the standard instructions. Furthermore, this court has specifically determined that a trial court is not required to list the nonstatutory mitigating circumstances in its instructions to the jury. Jackson v. State, 530 So. 2d 269 (Fla. 1988); Robinson v. State, 574 So. 2d 108 (Fla. 1991).

# V. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING STATUTORY AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES AT RESENTENCING WHICH HAD NOT BEEN FOUND BY THE PRIOR SENTENCING JUDGES.

The appellant complains that upon resentencing two new aggravating circumstances were found for the murder of John Smith Eubanks, to-wit, a previous conviction for the killing of Robert Farmer and that the murder of Eubanks was committed to avoid a lawful arrest. The avoid a lawful arrest factor was also newly found upon resentencing for the murder of Farmer. Craig contends that these factors could not be properly found because they are barred by the doctrines of res judicata, law of the case, double jeopardy and fundamental fairness.

This case was originally remanded for reconsideration of the sentences of death because of the intervening decision in <u>Skipper v. South Carolina</u>, 476 U.S. 1 (1986), and to allow the defense to present testimony to the effect that Craig had behaved well during his incarceration, from the time of arrest through trial until the time of the sentencing. The appellant had never attempted to introduce the good behavior evidence before the jury

so this court determined that reconsideration shall be by the trial judge only. Craig v. State, 510 So. 2d 857, 871 (Fla. 1987). At the time of remand the original trial judge, Welborn Daniel, was a district court of appeal judge, but was reappointed to conduct the resentencing. He subsequently left the bench for private practice. Judge Don Briggs took over the case. Judge Briggs did not empanel a new jury and entertained evidence only of Craig's behavior during his incarceration as mandated by This court subsequently directed the trial court to Skipper. conduct a new penalty proceeding and resentence Craig within ninety days of the opinion because a substitute judge had resentenced Craig who had not heard the evidence presented to the original jury during the penalty phase of the trial. In vacating the death sentence again this court directed that a complete, new sentencing proceeding be conducted before a jury. Craig v. State, 620 So. 2d 174, 176 (Fla. 1993). Appellant overlooks the fact that when a complete and new sentencing proceeding is ordered principles of res judicata and law of the case are not There is a clean slate as far as aggravation is applicable. concerned. There is nothing unfair in this procedure since the defense also gets the opportunity to bombard the trial court again not only with tried but untried and new mitigation, as well, in another effort to avoid the death penalty. It is certainly not unfair, in a case like this, where the appellant has actually sought and obtained a new penalty phase proceeding. Upon the opinion of this court vacating Craig's previous death sentence, Craig again became death-eligible. The presence of

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